ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2017 Feb 21 PM 3:56 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 116425

No. 16-116425-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

MATTHEW JAEGER

Petitioner-Appellant

VS.

STATE OF KANSAS

Respondent-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable B. Kay Huff, Judge District Court Case No. 13 CV 423

> Corrine E. Gunning, #25519 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 (785) 296-2869 fax adoservice@sbids.org Attorney for the Appellant

Nature of the Case

Following the completion of his direct appeal from conviction, Matthew Jaeger filed a timely motion under K.S.A. 60-1507 alleging his right to counsel was violated by the deficient representation of his trial counsel. The district court denied several of Mr. Jaeger's claims following a non-evidentiary preliminary hearing and denied the remainder of his motion after an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Jaeger appeals the denial of his 60-1507 motion.

Statement of the Issues

- Issue 1: The district court erred when it summarily dismissed claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in Mr. Jaeger's timely K.S.A. 60-1507 motion.
- Issue 2: The district court's conclusions following an evidentiary hearing were not supported by substantial competent evidence.

Statement of the Facts

Underlying Criminal Case

On August 13, 2009, a jury convicted Matthew Jaeger of one count each of kidnapping, a severity level three person felony; aggravated battery, a severity level four person felony; and criminal threat, a severity level nine person felony. (R. 7, 239-40; R. 8, 327-35). At sentencing on March 4, 2010, based on a criminal history score "I," the district court sentenced Mr. Jaeger to a controlling 106-month prison sentence, with a 36-month postrelease supervision term. (R. 8, 327-30).

Mr. Jaeger appealed, and this Court affirmed his convictions. *State v. Jaeger*, No. 104,119, 2011 WL 6382749 (Kan. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2011). The Kansas Supreme Court denied his petition for review and his appeal became final February 20, 2013.

Mr. Jaeger's 60-1507 Motion

On September 9, 2013, Mr. Jaeger filed a motion pursuant to K.S.A. 60-1507 claiming that Carl Cornwell, his counsel for preliminary hearing and arraignment, and Pedro Irigonegaray, his counsel for the remainder of trial proceedings, had provided ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 1, 8-16). Mr. Jaeger specifically claimed that Mr. Irigonegaray had been ineffective for several reasons, including because he had failed to:

- (1) argue that the victim's video statement should be excluded because it was cumulative evidence;
- (2) raise or pursue a voluntary intoxication defense;
- (3) request any lesser included offense instructions for the aggravated battery charge;
- (4) request definitional instructions for "great bodily harm" or "serious bodily injury;"
- (5) request an instruction on criminal restraint as a lesser included offense of aggravated kidnapping; or
- (6) file a motion for change of venue based on the significant media coverage.

(R. 1, 12-16). The State answered the motion on April 7, 2014, and on May 2, 2014, the court appointed counsel to represent Mr. Jaeger on the motion. (R. 1, 22-110, 119). On September 10, 2014, Mr. Jaeger filed an Amended Motion and Response to Answer, providing supplemental facts and argument to his initial motion, but not raising additional claims. (R. 2, 123-244).

On October 21, 2014, the court held a non-evidentiary preliminary hearing. (R. 5, 2). At this hearing, the State conceded that Mr. Jaeger should have an evidentiary hearing on his claims regarding the voluntary intoxication defense, the criminal restraint

instruction, and the motion for change of venue. (R. 5, 4). However, the State argued "the file, the application and the records of the case conclusively show that Mr. Jaeger's not entitled to relief" on the remaining claims. (R. 5, 23). After hearing argument on the remaining claims, the court summarily denied these claims. (R. 2, 249).

Evidentiary Hearing

Matthew Jaeger's Testimony

At the evidentiary hearing on March 6, 2015, Mr. Jaeger testified that he had retained Pedro Irigonegaray to represent him at trial. (R. 4, 5). He explained that he had told Mr. Irigonegaray that on the night of the incident he had (1) been fasting for three days and had only eaten a sub sandwich during that time; (2) consumed five Valium and five Xanax pills; and (3) had consumed alcohol, including several shots of tequila. (R. 4, 8-9). He had told Mr. Irigonegaray because he believed it was important to show his state of mind at the time. (R. 4, 10). However, when Mr. Jaeger testified at trial Mr. Irigonegaray asked only briefly about the alcohol, did not ask about any drugs, and did not pursue a voluntary intoxication defense. (R. 4, 9-10). Mr. Jaeger acknowledged that he had never told law enforcement about his drug use and only had told them he had consumed "a couple beers." (R. 4, 19-20).

Mr. Jaeger explained that he had not discussed the criminal restraint issue with Mr. Irigonegaray because he "didn't really have legal knowledge on what lesser includeds or any of that stuff meant at the time." (R. 4, 16). However, he had told Mr. Irigonegaray that he did not believe what had happened amounted to kidnapping and had

provided his perspective on the events that had occurred. (R. 4, 16-17). Otherwise, he had simply relied on his attorney's expertise. (R. 4, 17).

Finally, Mr. Jaeger testified that he had discussed the issue of a change of venue at least five or six times with Mr. Irigonegaray. (R. 4, 11). He approached the issue because he did not believe he could get a fair trial in Douglas County based on several comments he had read on the Lawrence Journal-World articles online and the numerous threats that were made against him and his family. (R. 4, 11-13). Further, he explained that of particular concern was that several facts about the case particularly were being publicized that were not true. (R. 4, 15). Mr. Irigonegaray told Mr. Jaeger that "he would look into it," but Mr. Jaeger did not receive any additional response. (R. 4, 15). *Pedro Irigonegaray's Testimony*

Mr. Irigonegaray testified that he had considered the possibility of a voluntary intoxication defense. (R. 4, 27). He explained that Mr. Jaeger had talked with him about both his alcohol consumption and that he had taken several pills the night of the incident. (R. 4, 29). However, he explained he did not pursue this defense because the evidence presented at trial showed that Mr. Jaeger had made a voluntary decision to try and protect a friend and had taken specific actions to locate her. (R. 4, 28). Because of this evidence, Mr. Irigonegaray believed "[i]t would be incongruous to suggest that someone was so intoxicated as to not have the ability to generate an intent when the primary defense was that there was a specific intent to defend." (R. 4, 28).

Regarding an instruction on criminal restraint, Mr. Irigonegaray similarly said he chose not to request the instruction because of the defense he had chosen to pursue. (R.

4, 36). He explained that the defense was that no kidnapping had occurred at all, so there was no discussion of any lesser offense instructions. (R. 4, 36).

Finally, Mr. Irigonegaray testified that he had considered and discussed the possibility of requesting a change of venue due to the "significant publicity in this case." (R. 4, 31). Mr. Irigonegaray explained that much of the publicity came straight from Lawrence, Kansas, and that "a significant portion of that publicity was unfair." (R. 4, 34). He also acknowledged that "many ugly statements" had been made, such as threats, and that both he and Mr. Jaeger had been the subject of the statements. (R. 4, 34). Further, Mr. Irigonegaray testified that, amongst this significant publicity, the most egregious to him was the inclusion of erroneous facts about the case that a sexual injury had been inflicted on the victim. (R. 4, 35).

Yet, despite this information, Mr. Irigonegaray chose not to investigate or pursue a motion for change of venue, a decision he stated "in retrospect" he might have done differently. (R. 4, 32). He chose not to file a motion because his perspective "was that Douglas County was about as good a place in Kansas" as he could think to try a criminal case. (R. 4, 32). Additionally, he explained that if the case were transferred to another county, it would likely end up in a more conservative county that would have a "lack of open-mindedness to perhaps a defense such as the one we were pursuing." (R. 4, 32). Finally, he noted that he knew "at the time that a change of venue was an extremely difficult bar to reach and had expressed concerns about whether or not we could be successful in reaching it." (R. 4, 32). Because of this, he and co-counsel decided they believed Mr. Jaeger could have a fair trial in Douglas County. (R. 4, 33).

Court's Decision

Following the hearing, the State filed proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law, to which Mr. Jaeger filed a response. (R. 3, 254-98; 326-28). On July 24, 2015, the district court issued a written decision that contained findings of fact and conclusions of law, and denied the remainder of Mr. Jaeger's 60-1507 motion. (R. 3, 329-35). Mr. Jaeger timely appealed. (R. 3, 338).

Argument and Authorities

Issue 1: The district court erred when it summarily dismissed claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in Mr. Jaeger's timely K.S.A. 60-1507 motion.

Introduction

Matthew Jaeger timely filed a K.S.A. 60-1507 motion that alleged his trial counsel, Pedro Irigonegaray, was ineffective. The district court summarily denied several of Mr. Jaeger's claims. Because the record demonstrated these issues were substantial, the district court erred in denying them without an evidentiary hearing.

Standard of Review and Preservation of the Issue

If a district court "denies a 60-1507 motion based only on the motion, files, and records after a preliminary hearing," this Court is "in as good a position as that court to consider the merits" and exercises de novo review. *Sola-Martinez v. State*, 300 Kan. 875, 881, 335 P.3d 1162 (2014).

This issue is preserved by Mr. Jaeger's timely notice of appeal from the trial court's summary dismissal of his motion filed pursuant to K.S.A. 60-1507. (R. 3, 338).

<u>Analysis</u>

In order to demonstrate that an evidentiary hearing is warranted on the motion, Mr. Jaeger was required to "make more than conclusory contentions and must state an evidentiary basis in support of the claims or an evidentiary basis must appear in the record." *Sola-Martinez*, 300 Kan. at 881 (quoting *Holmes v. State*, 292 Kan. 271, 274, 252 P.3d 573 [2011]). If he met this burden, the court is *required* to grant an evidentiary hearing, unless the motion is successive. *Sola-Martinez*, 300 Kan. at 881. As was the case in *Sola-Martinez*, because Mr. Jaeger's motion was based on the "ineffectiveness of his trial counsel, the substantive guarantees of effective counsel control whether he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing." *See* 300 Kan. at 881-82.

The Kansas Supreme Court has explained

[i]t is erroneous to deny a 60-1507 motion without an evidentiary hearing where the motion alleges facts which do not appear in the original record, which if true would entitle the movant to relief, and it identifies readily available witnesses whose testimony would support such facts or other sources of evidence.

State v. Holmes, 278 Kan. 603, 629, 102 P.3d 406 (2004).

Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel

The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, made applicable to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees the right to counsel in criminal proceedings. *Miller v. State*, 298 Kan. 921, 929, 318 P.3d 155 (2014). The right to counsel is also protected by Section 10 of the Kansas Constitution Bill of Rights. *State v. Mixon*, 27 Kan. App. 2d 49, 51, 998 P.2d 519 (2000). This right requires not only that counsel be present, but also that counsel provide effective assistance. *Strickland v.*

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); see also Chamberlain v. State, 236 Kan. 650, 656-57, 694 P.2d 468 (1985) (adopting Strickland standard). The purpose of this guarantee is to "ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial." State v. Galaviz, 296 Kan. 168, 174, 291 P.3d 62 (2012).

As the Kansas Supreme Court recognized, the benchmark in evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance "must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Bledsoe v. State*, 283 Kan. 81, 90, 150 P.3d 868 (2007). To obtain reversal of conviction based on ineffectiveness, a defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient under the totality of the circumstances and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense so as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

To meet the first "prong" of this test, a defendant must show

counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, and a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. A court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

State v. Betancourt, 301 Kan. 282, 306, 342 P.3d 916 (2015). To demonstrate prejudice where a defendant was convicted after a jury trial, the defendant must show "there is a reasonable probability the jury would have reached a different result absent the deficient performance." Sola-Martinez, 300 Kan. at 885.

Mr. Jaeger's Claims Against Pedro Irigonegaray

Mr. Jaeger's 60-1507 motion raised several claims that Mr. Irigonegaray had provided ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 1, 8-16). After Mr. Jaeger filed his motion, the district court appointed counsel and conducted a preliminary hearing on the motion. (R. 1, 119; R. 5, generally). Following arguments of counsel, the district court summarily denied several claims, including Mr. Irigonegaray's (1) failure to challenge evidence as cumulative; (2) failure to challenge a defective complaint; and (3) failure to request additional jury instructions related to the aggravated battery charge. (R. 2, 245-49). Because the motion, files, and records of this case did not conclusively show that Mr. Jaeger was entitled to no relief on these claims, the district court erred in denying him an evidentiary hearing on the claims.

Failure to Challenge Cumulative Evidence

Mr. Jaeger's motion alleged Mr. Irigonegaray was ineffective because he "failed to argue Ms. Biggs' video statement should be excluded for being cumulative testimony by virtually allowing Ms. Biggs to testify twice," and instead only objected to the evidence as more prejudicial than probative. (R. 1, 12). The amended motion noted that both the trial transcript and the Court of Appeals opinion of Mr. Jaeger's direct appeal demonstrate that Mr. Irigonegaray "failed to make a specific and timely objection to the admission of the victim's video statement as being cumulative." (R. 2, 123).

The court provided two reasons for dismissing this claim. First, it held that Mr. Jaeger had already litigated this claim before the Court of Appeals, and that the Court of Appeals had rejected the claim. (R. 2, 246); *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8. Second, it

held that "[t]he evidence code clearly contemplates prior statements may be relevant and may be admissible for persons present at the hearing and available for cross-examination." (R. 2, 246).

However, these conclusions do not support a finding that the motion and files clearly demonstrate that Mr. Jaeger is not entitled to relief on this issue. In fact, the conclusions have no factual or legal determinations regarding whether Mr. Irigonegaray was ineffective in failing to object to the video as cumulative. Rather, it simply relies on its conclusions that, upon appellate review, exclusion of the evidence would not amount to error. In doing so, the court wholly failed to analyze the specific question presented.

Additionally, the court failed to recognize the posture under which this Court "decided" the question on direct appeal. Mr. Irigonegaray filed a pre-trial motion to exclude the video that "simply argued the video was more prejudicial than probative," and then he failed to contemporaneously object to the totality of the video when it was presented at trial. *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8. Rather, he objected to certain parts of the video, arguing that the portions that were being played at those points were repetitive or cumulative. *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8.

On appeal, Mr. Irigonegaray argued that the court "erred in failing to exclude cumulative evidence presented at trial," and challenged the admission of the video in addition to the live testimony. *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8. This Court concluded that the issue was not preserved for appellate review. *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8. However, the Court then determined that *even if* the objection was preserved, it did not find an abuse of discretion in admitting the video. *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at *8.

The reliance on what is arguably dicta from an appellate court is not sufficient to determine that Mr. Jaeger is not entitled to relief without an evidentiary hearing. In *Rowland v. State*, 289 Kan. 1076, 1079, 219 P.3d 1212 (2009), the defendant argued on direct appeal that the district court erred in failing to instruct the jury on voluntary intoxication, and that he was denied due process because of his trial counsel's actions in admitting the defendant's guilt despite the defendant's assertion of innocence and failing to request the involuntary intoxication instruction. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1079. The Court found the failure to instruct on voluntary intoxication was not clearly erroneous and that the defendant's counsel was not ineffective based upon the evidence available on the record. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1079 (citing *State v. Rowland*, No. 90,128, 2004 WL 1683106 [Kan. Ct. App. 2004]).

Following his direct appeal, the defendant filed a K.S.A. 60-1507 motion arguing his counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge a witness's inconsistent testimony, to pursue the issue of the defendant's intent, and to investigate. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1080. The trial court rejected this argument, ruling it had been dealt with on direct appeal. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1080-81. On appeal, the defendant asserted his direct appeal dealt with counsel's guilt-based defense, rather than his current argument that counsel failed to investigate or pursue the element of intent. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1081.

In reversing the district court, the Supreme Court noted that ineffective assistance of counsel is ordinarily not suitable for direct appeal, and reiterated the policy reasons underlying that stance. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1084. The Court then looked to the Court of Appeals' disposition on direct appeal of the voluntary intoxication instruction issues,

noting the ruling that the failure to give the instruction was not clear error, *i.e.*, when it was not preserved by a defense request, was not the "analytical equivalent" of a ruling that the defendant's counsel (1) had performed adequate pretrial investigation; (2) had presented adequate evidence at trial, possibly including evidence that could have supported the voluntary intoxication instruction; or (3) that a failure to do either did not prejudice the defendant. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1085.

The Court then ruled that any determination on direct appeal on whether counsel was ineffective for failing to bring a voluntary intoxication instruction was premature. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1086. Further, the Court noted that the record available on direct appeal was insufficient to determine if such a choice was strategic, and until such a record was available, no judge should have decided the merits of the ineffective assistance of counsel issue on the merits or as a matter of law. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1086. Because the ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding the instruction and failure to investigate did not receive the complete review that was due, the Court reversed the district court and remanded for further 60-1507 proceedings on the issue. *Rowland*, 289 Kan. at 1086-87.

Similar to the situation in *Rowland*, there is a difference between whether error occurred in allowing evidence to be presented and whether counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the evidence for a particular reason. Simply because an appellate court determined that a court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the video in this case, that conclusion does not answer the question of whether Mr. Irigonegaray was ineffective for failing to object to the evidence on the basis that it was cumulative in the first place.

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