#### **ELECTRONICALLY FILED**

2017 Jun 26 PM 4:59 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 116425

No. 16-116425-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

\_\_\_\_

MATTHEW JAEGER, Petitioner-Appellant

v.

STATE OF KANSAS, Respondents-Appellee

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable B. Kay Huff, Judge District Court Case No. 13-CV-423

> Jon S. Simpson, #26455 Assistant Solicitor General 120 SW 10th Avenue Topeka, Kansas 66612-1597

Tel: (785) 296-2215 Fax: (785) 296-3131

Email: jon.simpson@ag.ks.gov

Attorney for Appellee State of Kansas

####

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

#### ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. No error occurred when the district court summarily denied certain of Jaeger's ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Jaeger's Argument. The "motion, files, and records of this case," according to Jaeger, do not support the district court's partial summary denial of his motion. (Appellant's Brief, 9). Specifically, Jaeger argues that the motion, files, and records of his case do not conclusively show that he was entitled to no relief on his 60-1507 claims that one of his trial counsel, Mr. Irigonegaray, ineffectively failed (1) to object to playing the video of Biggs' interview with police as cumulative of her testimony, (2) to challenge a defective complaint, and (3) to request additional jury instructions related aggravated battery. (Appellant's Brief, 9).

Standard of Review. "The standard of review for the summary dismissal of K.S.A. 60-1507 motions is de novo, requiring an appellate court to determine whether the motion, files, and records of the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." State v. Sprague, 303 Kan. 418, 425, 362 P.3d 828 (2015) (quotation omitted).

Standard for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel. To show a plausible ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Jaeger's well-pled allegations and the record must show: (1) deficiency (meaning that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness") and (2) prejudice (meaning that without counsel's unprofessional errors, it is reasonably probable that the trial's result would have been different). Edgar v. State, 294 Kan. 828, 837–38, 283 P.3d 152 (2012) (quotation omitted).

Regarding deficiency, counsel's conduct is presumed reasonable, "sound trial strategy." State v. Coones, 301 Kan. 64, 70, 339 P.3d 375 (2014). Jaeger must show otherwise, that counsel did not act within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Edgar, 294 Kan. at 838 (quotation omitted). Hindsight declarations that his trial attorney should have tried his case differently prove nothing. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984). And the Court must take a "highly deferential" view of counsel's performance that accounts for "counsel's perspective at the time" and "all the circumstances." Edgar, 294 Kan. at 838 (quotation omitted). The result: a "highly demanding" burden to prove "gross incompetence." Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 382 (1986).

Regarding prejudice, an error is reasonably probable to alter a proceeding's outcome if the error sufficiently undermines confidence in the original outcome. *Edgar*, 294 Kan. at 838. "[T]he likelihood of a different

result must be substantial, not just conceivable." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693).

A court need not consider both prongs if Jaeger makes an insufficient showing on one. Edgar, 294 Kan. at 843.

# A. No additional evidence was necessary to reject Jaeger's claim that Irigonegaray ineffectively failed to object to Biggs' video interview as cumulative of her testimony.

Toward showing that this claim deserved an evidentiary hearing, Jaeger argues that the district court "wholly failed to analyze the specific question presented"—i.e. the district court allegedly gave "no factual or legal determinations regarding whether Mr. Irigonegaray was ineffective in failing to object to the video as cumulative." (Appellant's Brief, 10). according to Jaeger, the district court simply mistreated the issue as a question of whether "exclusion of the evidence would . . . amount to error," like the analytical question this Court considered on Jaeger's direct appeal when Jaeger argued that Ms. Biggs' videotaped statements amounted to inadmissible cumulative evidence. (Appellant's Brief, 10); see also Jaeger, 2011 WL 6382749 at \*8. Any reliance the court below placed on this Court's disposition of the cumulative-error issue raised on Jaeger's direct appeal, Jaeger considers inappropriate. (Appellant's Brief, 10–13). And ultimately, he considers the motion, files, and records inadequate to support summary denial because that evidence does "not show if Mr. Irigonegaray's choice to

not raise a cumulative evidence objection was strategic such that the issue can be decided as a matter of law." (Appellant's Brief 13).

Strategic or not, however, Irigonegaray's failure to raise a cumulative evidence objection can be decided as a matter of law. That is because, as a matter of law, proving ineffective assistance of counsel requires proving both deficiency and prejudice. See Edgar, 294 Kan. at 837–38. Failure to prove either element justifies dismissal. Id. at 843.

On appeal, Jaeger only focuses on deficiency. He essentially complains that the district court lacked evidence to conclude whether or not Irigonegaray acted strategically. But his position and its reliance on Rowland ignore the reality that summary denial was appropriate because the motion, files, and records conclusively show that, in all reasonable probability, Irigonegaray's failure to raise a cumulative evidence objection had no outcome-altering impact on Jaeger's trial. See Trotter v. State, 288 Kan. 112, 133–34, 200 P.3d 1236 (2009) (equating conclusion from direct appeal that trial error was constitutionally harmless with failure, on collateral appeal, to show IAC-prejudice from same alleged error); but see Rowland v. State, 289 Kan. 1076, 1085, 219 P.3d 1212 (2009) (finding improper the resolution of IAC claim raised for the first time on direct appeal without an evidentiary hearing).

More specifically, the motion, files, and records of the case show that the trial court would have overruled Jaeger's proposed cumulative evidence objection. As noted by this Court in Jaeger's direct appeal, cumulative evidence "is not objectionable in and of itself." Jaeger, 2011 WL 6382749 at \*8 (citation omitted). Still, a trial judge may exercise discretion to admit or exclude cumulative evidence. Id. And in fact, this Court opined that Jaeger's trial judge fairly could exercise its discretion to admit Biggs' video interview along with her live testimony. Id. So to begin to prove the likelihood of a different result, the question becomes whether the record indicates that the trial judge in fact would have exercised its discretion to exclude the entire interview as cumulative.

Various comments and actions by the trial judge show that it would have overruled any objection to excluding the entire interview. Initially, the trial judge twice denied motions by Jaeger to wholesale exclude the video interview. (See R. Vol 6, 145–48; Vol. 7, 197–200; Vol. 9, 50–71). The judge also indicated that cross-examination of Biggs would impact the interview's admissibility. (R. Vol. 9, 53; see also Vol. 2, 246 (referencing K.S.A. 60-460(a)). And ultimately, the judge refused to sustain a cumulative objection raised to just a portion of the interview. (R. Vol. 10, 362–63). These actions show that it is not reasonably likely that the trial judge would have sustained Jaeger's proposed objection to altogether exclude Biggs' video interview.

And even if sustained, the motion, files, and records further show that the video's admission caused Jaeger no outcome-altering prejudice. Jaeger, as this Court earlier noted, subjected Biggs to "comprehensive crossexamination;" thus, this Court "conclude[d] that Jaeger's right to a fair trial was not substantially prejudiced by the admission of this evidence." Jaeger, 2011 WL 6382749 at \*8. Neither Jaeger's 60-1507 motion nor his appellate brief offer anything to disturb that original conclusion. And other authority suggests that cumulative evidence is generally nonprejudicial. See Stano v. State, No. 103,571, 2011 WL 781554, at \*3 (Kan. App. Mar. 4, 2011) (unpublished) (concluding that admission of cumulative testimony, even if error, "had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial."); R. Vol. 2, 246 ("One might ruminate on just how prejudicial a cumulative statement can be. If the jury has already heard the statement, how earth-shattering can a repeat version be?") (quoting State v. Portillo, 294 Kan. 242, 250, 274 P.3d 640 (2012), rev'd on other grounds); see also Bledsoe v. State, 283 Kan. 81, 102–03, 150 P.3d 868 (2007) (suggesting that failure to present cumulative testimony is not ineffective assistance of counsel).

Furthermore, "the evidence against Jaeger was overwhelming." *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749 at \*10, \*13. "When the evidence of guilt is direct and overwhelming, the erroneous admission of evidence in violation of a constitutional right could not have affected the result of the trial." *State v. Hill*, 281 Kan. 136, 155, 130 P.3d 1 (2006).

Accordingly, the district court appropriately dismissed this issues without an evidentiary hearing. (See R. Vol. 2, 246–47).

B. Jaeger improperly briefs and thus abandons any claim that Irigonegaray's alleged failure to challenge a defective complaint needed an evidentiary hearing.

Jaeger characterizes this claim as erroneously denied, but he offers no supporting argument or authority. (See Appellant's Brief, 9–14). Accordingly, his argument "is deemed waived and abandoned." State v. Tague, 296 Kan. 993, 1001–02, 298 P.3d 273 (2013).

C. No additional evidence was necessary to reject Jaeger's claim that Irigonegaray ineffectively failed to request additional jury instructions related to aggravated battery.

Here, like before, Jaeger suggests that the district court erroneously dismissed his claim without necessary findings. Specifically, he claims that the "record contains no evidence of trial strategy or any reason why Mr. Irigonegaray failed to request a lesser offense instruction for aggravated battery or a definitional instruction regarding the amount of harm." (Appellant's Brief, 14). He further insists that, without that evidence, "this claim could not be resolve[d]." (Appellant's Brief, 14).

Again, Jaeger's deficiency-focused position overlooks the reality that summary denial was appropriate because the motion, files, and records conclusively show that Jaeger can prove no prejudice. See Edgar, 294 Kan. at 837–38. Jaeger can prove no prejudice for two reasons: (1) Jaeger cannot show that the omitted instructions were factually appropriate and (2) Jaeger

cannot show a more-than-conceivable likelihood that giving his omitted instructions would have resulted in a different verdict.

#### 1. No evidence supported the omitted instructions.

Initially, showing prejudice necessarily requires proof that the proposed instructions were legally and factually appropriate. *See State v. Johnson*, 304 Kan. 924, 931, 376 P.3d 70 (2016) (conditioning jury instruction issue analysis, in part, on determining that the instruction was legally appropriate and supported by sufficient evidence); *Harris v. State*, 288 Kan. 414, 417, 204 P.3d 557 (2009) ("Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request an improper instruction"). Stated otherwise, Jaeger must first show that, had Irigonegaray so requested, the trial court would have instructed the jury on either (1) lesser included offenses for aggravated battery [see K.S.A. 21-3414(a)(1)(B), (a)(1)(C), (a)(2)(B), and 21-3412(a)(1)] or (2) the definition of "great bodily harm" and "serious bodily injury."

The jury convicted Jaeger of aggravated battery, in violation of K.S.A. 21-3414(a)(1)(A). (R. Vol. 15, 1864–65). Instruction No. 11 at Jaeger's trial informed the jury that establishing that charge required proof that Jaeger "intentionally caused great bodily harm to Mary Frances Biggs . . . on or about the 9th day of October, 2007, in Douglas County, Kansas." (R. Vol. 15, 1661).

The trial record contains insufficient evidence to support instruction on any of Jaeger's suggested lesser included offenses to aggravated battery. Those lesser included offenses generally involve some lesser degree of harm (i.e. mere "bodily harm") and/or some lesser mental state (i.e. "recklessly causing"). See K.S.A. 21-3414(a)(1)(B), (a)(1)(C), (a)(2)(B), and 21-3412(a)(1). To support instruction on those lesser offenses, therefore, the trial evidence, reasonably construed in Jaeger's favor, need allow a reasonable factfinder to find that Ms. Biggs suffered mere "bodily harm" and/or Jaeger "recklessly" caused that harm.

A reasonable factfinder could not find mere "bodily harm" from the trial evidence. "[T]he word 'great' distinguishes the bodily harm necessary for aggravated battery from slight, trivial, minor, or moderate harm." Jaeger, 2011 WL 6382749 at \*6 (quoting State v. Kelly, 262 Kan. 755, Syl. ¶ 2, 942 P.2d 579 (1997)). Case law shows that certain injuries, as a matter of law to be determined by the court, cannot be considered "slight, trivial, minor, or moderate harm." E.g., State v. Brice, 276 Kan. 758, 772–74, 80 P.3d 1113 (2003); State v. Moore, 271 Kan. 416, 419–20, 23 P.3d 815 (2001); see also State v. Shortey, 256 Kan. 166, Syl. ¶ 2, 884 P.2d 426 (1994) ("Where . . . all of the evidence taken together shows that the offense, if committed, was clearly of the higher degree, instructions relating to the lesser degrees of the offense are not necessary.").

In Jaeger's case, "[i]t is undisputed that Biggs suffered a significant injury, including substantial loss of blood." *Id.* at \*3, \*7. Indeed, at a minimum, Biggs' injury caused her to experience "very intense pain;" surgery and nearly two weeks of hospital care, followed by a week of in-home medical

car; three weeks' reliance on a catheter; and, the cause of it all, two labial lacerations and a hematoma filled with roughly 1/2 a cup of blood—i.e. the worst genital injury to a non-pregnant woman ever seen by her treating ER and OB-GYN doctors. (R. Vol. 10, 357, 365, 461; R. Vol. 13, 1103, 1107–09, 1174–86, 1193–94).

Given the absence of evidence showing that the hematoma and lacerations to Biggs' labia were "slight, trivial, minor, or moderate," no factual basis existed for Irigonegaray to earn Jaeger's proposed instructions on certain lesser included offenses to aggravated battery. See McKinney v. State, No. 106,074, 2012 WL 3171823, at \*5–\*6 (Kan. App. Aug. 3, 2012) (unpublished) (explaining that "if the evidence shows without question that the victim suffered great bodily harm and nothing less, then [can be] no error in taking [that] determination away from the jury" and no prejudice from trial counsel's failure to request lesser offense instructions).

Similarly, a reasonable factfinder could not find that Jaeger "recklessly" harmed Biggs. The State offered evidence and argument at trial that tended to show that Jaeger intentionally injured Biggs. See Jaeger, 2011 WL 6382749, at \*7 (offering synopsis of evidence supporting finding that Jaeger intentionally caused great bodily harm to Biggs); (R. Vol. 9, 150–52, 159–60, 187–88, 208–09, 215–17, 225, 252, 266–69; R. Vol. 10, 321–22, 339–44, 347, 349–50, 358–59, 367, 374, 462–65; R. Vol. 11, 722, 843–51, 902, 915; R. Vol. 13, 968–69, 973, 975). For his part, Jaeger denied intentionally

injuring Biggs. (R. Vol. 14, 1276). His own and other experts' testimony instead countered that "Biggs had injured herself by falling onto the railing of her bed." *Jaeger*, 2011 WL 6382749, at \*4; (R. Vol. 14, 1272, 1278, 1353–54, 1421–22, 1444–63). No evidence, alternatively, suggested that Jaeger recklessly harmed Biggs. Even had Irigonegaray made the request for nonintentional-type lesser included instructions to aggravated battery, therefore, no factual basis would have supported giving those instructions.

Jaeger's proposed definitional instructions are similarly inappropriate. A trial court need not define an instruction's every word or phrase; in fact, the court should define a term only when the instructions as a whole would mislead the jury. State v. Patton, 33 Kan.App.2d 391, 396, 102 P.3d 1195 (2004) (quotation omitted). And generally, trial courts should follow PIK instructions. State v. Scott, 271 Kan. 103, 116, 21 P.3d 516 (2001) (encouraging trial courts to regard PIK instructions as "not mandatory but strongly recommended," to be followed without modification unless particular facts require modification). No instruction at Jaeger's trial used the phrase "serious bodily injury." (R. Vol. 15, 1657–62). So the jury needed no further definition for that term; if anything, defining that term likely would have confused the jury. As for "great bodily harm," neither statute nor PIK instructions define the term, and case law explains that the K.S.A. 21-3414derived language "is readily understandable, and there are no omissions of necessary language." State v. Dubish, 234 Kan. 708, 715–16, 675 P.2d 877

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